IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RACHEL DRISKELL PORTER (SPIVEY)

APPELLANT

VS

NO. 2006-CA-01592

TIMOTHY WADE PORTER

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT:

RICHARD C. ROBERTS III, Law Offices of Richard C. Roberts III 599 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 110 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157

Mailing Address:
Post Office Box 55882

Jackson, Mississippi 39296-5882

Telephone: 601.607.4144 Facsimile: 601.607.4194

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RACHEL DRISKELL PORTER (SPIVEY)

APPELLANT

VS

CASE NO. 2006-CA-01592

TIMOTHY WADE PORTER

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) Did the chancellor err by applying a subjective, personal standard of fairness in overruling Rachel's Motion for Recusal, rather than the objective, reasonable person standard that is required?
- (2) Did the chancellor err by placing the burden of proof on Rachel (rather than on Tim as the party seeking modification), to prove that she had primary physical custody and the rights that go with it regarding relocation by the primary custodial parent?
- (3) Did the chancellor err by not applying the traditional 3-part legal standard for modification, and holding Tim to his burden as the moving party to satisfy each element of the 3-part test?
- (4) Under the "impractical/impossible" legal standard that the chancellor employed for modification, was the chancellor manifestly wrong in concluding that joint custody was "impractical/impossible" when both parties submitted proposals for continued joint custody and Tim's proof was that he could continue to exercise joint custody in Memphis and Rachel could exercise continued joint custody in Jackson?
- (5) Did the chancellor err in denying Rachel's Rule 60(b) motion to set aside the judgment, when, (a) the chancellor found as a fact that the best interests of the children were served by the existing joint custody arrangement; (b) he modified the existing joint custody arrangement based solely upon Rachel's anticipated move to Memphis; and (c) the move to Memphis never occurred as a result of events which transpired after trial, and over which Rachel had no control?
- (6) Did the chancellor err by modifying the previously existing judgment of child support where neither party in their pleadings requested modification, where Tim expressly disavowed any claim for child support, where neither party presented any evidence on the issue of child support, and where the chancellor made no factual findings to support a child support award?
- (7) Did the chancellor err by failing to give his reasons for rejecting the Guardian Ad Litem's recommendation that the children be allowed to remain in Rachel's primary custody?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. Nature of the Case.

These parties were divorced in October, 2000. In their divorce settlement, the parties agreed to a joint legal and physical custody arrangement for their three young children with Appellant, Rachel Spivey, being awarded "primary physical custody" and Appellee, Tim Porter, "secondary physical custody."

Rachel remarried. She and her husband, Dan Spivey, have a son and a daughter together. In January, 2006, Dan accepted a job and moved to Memphis. Rachel remained in Jackson so that the children could finish the school year. In anticipation of the move she thought would occur in the Summer, Rachel filed a Petition to modify Tim's periods of physical custody with the three Porter children. Tim filed a Counter-Petition, claiming that the move to Memphis would adversely affect the children, and asked that he be awarded sole physical custody.

The entire trial was based on the premise that Rachel would be moving to Memphis. Based upon Rachel's impending move, the court concluded (contrary to the recommendation of the court-appointed Guardian Ad Litem) that the children should not be allowed to remain in Rachel's primary custody. Rather than shifting primary custody to Tim, the court terminated the joint custody arrangement and awarded Tim sole physical custody. As events unfolded shortly after the trial, however, Dan's position in Memphis was eliminated, and Rachel's anticipated move to Memphis never took place.

This is an appeal from the Judgment which terminated Rachel's primary/joint physical custody rights and awarded sole physical custody of the children to Tim, based solely upon Rachel's **anticipated** move from Jackson to Memphis – which never actually occurred – and from the court's denial of Rachel's post-trial motion to set aside the Judgment after Dan's job loss extinguished the reason for the anticipated move.

Rachel contends that the chancellor erred in a number of ways, including his failure to recuse himself, his application of the wrong legal standard in reaching his modification decision, his rejection of the Guardian Ad Litem's recommendation that the children remain in Rachel's primary custody when she moved, his conclusion that joint physical custody would be impractical, his award of monetary relief to Tim that was not requested in the pleadings, and his failure to reinstate the joint custody arrangement when it became clear that the anticipated move, which precipitated the petitions for modification, and upon which the case was tried, would not occur.

b. Course of Proceedings Below and Statement of Facts.

Rachel and Tim were married on May 23, 1992. Rachel was 22 and Tim was 23. Rachel, who has a B.A. in Accounting, worked as a substitute teacher and as a bank teller while Tim completed his last year of law school. (T.98). After Tim graduated, the couple moved to Jackson where Tim went to work for a local law firm and Rachel took a job as a staff accountant for LDDS. (T.98).

Their first child, Madeline, was born on August 9, 1995. At that time, Rachel quit work and has been a stay-at-home Mom ever since. Harrison, their second child, was born on April 20, 1997.

On September 21, 1999, Rachel filed her Complaint for Divorce against Tim charging him with adultery and other fault grounds. At that time, Rachel was pregnant with their third child, Carlisle, who subsequently was born on May 1, 2000.

On October 4, 2000, Rachel withdrew her fault grounds for divorce and consented to the entry of a Judgment of Divorce on the ground of Irreconcilable Differences which incorporated by reference the parties' Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement. (RE.,CP.000004).

Pursuant to the Agreement, child custody was awarded as follows: "The parties shall have joint physical custody with Wife awarded primary physical custody of the minor children; Husband shall have secondary physical custody of the minor children; the parties shall have joint legal custody of the minor children." (RE.,CP.000019) (Emphasis added).

The Agreement defined joint physical custody exactly as it appears in §93-5-24 of the Mississippi Code, *i.e.*, "joint physical custody means that each of the parents shall have significant periods of physical custody and it shall be shared by the parents in such a way so as to assure a child of frequent and continuing contact with both parents." (RE.,CP.000019). "Primary physical custody" and "secondary physical custody" were not defined in the Agreement.

Under the terms of the Child Custody Agreement, Tim's visitation with the children during the school year was every other weekend, and after Rachel's weekend, Monday night and Wednesday night. After Tim's weekend, he had the option of substituting Tuesday or Thursday for his Monday visitation. Tim's periods of physical custody provided him with overnight visitation approximately 40% of the time. (RE.,CP.00019-24).

This schedule proved particularly unwieldy in its implementation, and the parties returned to court several times on clarification, modification, and enforcement issues, which resulted in various changes in Tim's visitation schedule. At the time of the modification trial, Tim's visitation was Wednesday at 12 until Friday at 12, unless it was his weekend, in which case the children remained with him until Sunday at 5. (RE.,CP.000555). The parties split or alternated holidays and summers. Under this visitation arrangement, Tim had overnight visitation with the children approximately 43% of the time.

Both parties remarried. Rachel married Dan Spivey. Rachel and Dan have two (2) children as a result of their marital union – Lydia, born November 28, 2001 (who was 4 at the time of the hearing), and Barnabas, born January 9, 2003 (who was 3 at the time of the hearing). Tim continued to date Samantha Thomas, whom he married in November, 2004. Samantha has a child from a previous marriage. Tim and Samantha have no children together.

In late December, 2005, Rachel's husband, Dan Spivey, who was self-employed in the securities industry, was offered a once-in-a-lifetime job opportunity to work as the Options Strategist for Wellspring Management, Inc., a private investment firm in Memphis, Tennessee. The position provided an annual compensation package between Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$500,000) and One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000). (T.79). One of the non-negotiable conditions of employment, however, was that Dan had to work in Wellsprings' headquarters in Memphis.¹ (T.80). Rachel contacted her attorney, Mark Chinn, who advised Rachel that under the terms of the Child Custody Agreement she had the right to relocate with the children. (Stipulation, T.140). Thereafter, Dan accepted the position and commuted between an apartment the company leased for him in Memphis and the family home in Jackson.² Rachel remained in Jackson with the five children to make arrangements for the move to Memphis once the children's school year ended in May, 2006. As facts turned out, however, **Rachel and the children never moved from their home in Jackson**.

In January, 2006, upon learning that Rachel planned to move to Memphis, Tim filed an *Emergency Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and/or Alternative Injunctive Relief*. (CP000282). After hearing the parties' attorneys' arguments in Chambers, the court entered a Temporary Restraining Order which prohibited Rachel: "from taking the children to Memphis to become involved in community activities such as church and school; ... from showing the children potential houses in Memphis that may be purchased; ... [and] from

¹At the time of this offer, Dan's business venture was failing and he had no other immediate employment prospects. (T.80, 135).

²Dan's employer, George White, testified that as a short-term accommodation for Dan and his family, Dan was permitted to work Monday through Thursday in Memphis, returning to Jackson Thursday night to be with his family on Friday, Saturday and Sunday. (T.91). He testified that this was an interim accommodation, and if the court required the children to stay in Jackson, Dan's continued permission to commute "would not work." (T.92).

taking the children to visit any schools in the Memphis area." (RE., Supplemental CP.000001-2).

On February 28, 2006, in anticipation of the move to Memphis, Rachel filed her Petition to Modify Defendant's Periods of Physical Custody. In her Petition, Rachel did not seek a change in the custodial arrangement, only a revision of the parties' custodial/visitation periods. She asked the court to "modify the custodial/visitation periods in light of the logistical change in circumstances, and to provide Tim with frequent and continuing contact with the minor children in light of the circumstances." (CP.000296-299). On April 19, 2006, Tim filed his Answer to Petition to Modify Defendant's Periods of Physical Custody and Counter-Petition for Modification of Physical Custody. (CP.000412). In his Counter-Petition, Tim requested sole physical custody and asserted the classic 3-prongs to support his claim: that Rachel's move from Jackson would constitute a material change in circumstances; that the move would be detrimental to the children; and, that it would be in the children's best interest to remain in Jackson rather than move to Memphis. (CP.000414).

The court, on its own initiative, appointed Debra L. Allen, Esq., a local attorney with extensive experience in the field of family law, as Guardian Ad Litem for the children. (RE.,CP.000455). The Guardian Ad Litem was ordered to conduct "a thorough and expeditious inquiry into all matters which in her judgment touch on the best interest of the

³The parties' *Child Custody Agreement* provided that a move from the Jackson metropolitan area by either parent would be "a material change in circumstances." (CP.000132). The question of "adverse affect" was not addressed in the Agreement.

children relative to the parties' petitions." (RE.,CP.000456). As directed, the Guardian Ad Litem conducted an extensive investigation of the facts prior to trial by interviewing the children, witnesses, and family members, reviewing hundreds of documents and emails, and visiting with the children and both parties in their homes and in her office. The GAL testified: "I don't think that I missed anything that they wanted me to see, hear, or read." (T.605).

At the commencement of the trial, the Judge allocated five (5) hours for each side to present their entire case, including cross-examination. (T.51). The court reserved three (3) hours for the Guardian Ad Litem's report and the examination of the Guardian Ad Litem by both sides. (T.51). The court frequently referred to the Guardian Ad Litem as the "star" witness and noted the substantial reliance he would place upon her report and testimony. (T.366, 19, 20, 22, 36-39, 41, 458). Rachel filed a Motion requesting the chancellor to appoint an independent psychological expert to conduct a psychological custody evaluation of the children and both parties. (CP.000490). The chancellor denied the motion and stressed the confidence he reposed in the Guardian Ad Litem: "I know that separation has an effect on children. And I really think that the guardian ad litem we've got is going to be competent to deal with those issues. ... The last thing I need is some semi-shrink getting up here and giving a bunch of academic psychobable. ... I think we always do better getting a lawyer that we know does a good job and really cares about the children." (T.22).

This case was tried on June 12 and 13, 2006. The entire trial was based upon the premise that Rachel would be moving to Memphis to be with her husband. As the chancellor

stated post trial: "I based the entire judgment on the fact that Rachel and Dan and their family were moving to Memphis. (T.672). That was the only reason for Rachel's Petition for modification of the visitation periods, and that was the only reason asserted by Tim in his Counter-Petition for modification. (CP.000414-416). Indeed, that was the only reason for the trial.

Rachel's position was that Tim's visitation with the children could be substantially the same in Memphis as he currently enjoyed in Jackson as a result of his substantial wealth,⁴ his completely flexible work schedule (T.537), and the reasonable proximity of Memphis to Jackson. Tim was clear in his testimony that if the children moved to Memphis, he would want to continue his same schedule with the children and would be able to do so. (T.537-540).

Even though Tim requested sole physical custody, he emphasized in his testimony to the court that he considered the joint custody arrangement under which the parties had been operating to be in the children's best interest, and repeatedly expressed his desire to continue the same schedule whether the court kept joint custody in place or awarded him sole custody. ("I would have no problem allowing Rachel to maintain custodial periods during the week. I ... would buy her a home here, that she could do that." (T. 533). "Absolutely ... I would keep the same arrangement with sole physical custody granted to me.") (T.534).

⁴In his UCCR 8.05 Financial Declaration dated January 20, 2006, Tim listed his gross income as \$219,000.00 per month, or \$2,630,40.00 per year. Tim did not file his 8.05 Form in the Chancery Court records, but he did provide a copy to Rachel in accordance with Rule 8.05 on January 24, 2006. (CP.000281). Tim concurred at trial that he had the financial ability to exercise exactly the same custody schedule if the chancellor allowed the children to go to Memphis with Rachel. (T.540).

In addition to her independent investigation, the Guardian Ad Litem attended the entire trial and listened to all of the evidence presented. Called as the court's witness after both parties had rested, the GAL testified that in her opinion the best interest of the children would be served by allowing the children to move to Memphis with Rachel, and giving Tim substantial periods of time to visit with the children. (T.627-629). The Guardian Ad Litem was quite clear in her testimony that the children were happy, well-adjusted, and doing extremely well in the existing custody arrangement. She lamented the fact that any change had to be made. (T.628, 629, 637). She concluded, however, that with Rachel in Memphis, and Tim in Jackson, the children would be better served living in Memphis with Rachel. (T.627-629).

At the conclusion of the trial, even before either party had submitted a proposed custody/visitation schedule, the chancellor was apparently convinced that continued joint custody was both practical and in the children's best interest. During closing argument, Judge Lutz stated: "Look, the one thing – I hate to interrupt you – but should it turn out as the guardian ad litem has recommended, the one thing that will stay, this will be a joint – a joint physical custodial relationship. Whichever way it goes, that is going to remain intact" (T.647).

Following trial, the court requested both parties to submit proposed custody schedules.

Both Rachel and Tim submitted proposals which provided significant periods of physical custody, shared by the parents in such a way so as to assure the children of frequent and

continuing contact with both parents. (In other words, "joint physical custody" as defined by Miss. Code Ann. §93-5-24, and as originally agreed upon by the parties).⁵

Rachel submitted a very detailed joint physical custody proposal which addressed the issue from the standpoint of "parenting time," defined as the non-school/non-sleeping time available for each parent to spend with the children. (CP.000584). Of the available parenting time, Rachel's proposal awarded Tim 46.09% and Rachel 53.91%. (CP.000586). In terms of days, Rachel's proposal allocated 159 days to Tim (43.80%) and 204 days to Rachel (56.20%). (CP.000586, 000587-000600, 000627-000679). The submission letter accompanying Rachel's proposal stated: "[T]he custody schedule we are proposing comes as close as possible to duplicating the actual parenting time both Rachel and Tim have had with their children." (CP.000582).

Tim also proposed a joint custody, 50/50 schedule consisting of two options — one with Tim providing a home in Jackson for Rachel's use, and one without the home in Jackson. (CP.000610-612). Under Option One, Tim proposed Rachel having 7 nights out of 14 during the school year, 6 weeks in the Summer (with Tim getting 5 weeks), and splitting the holidays. (CP.000610). Under Option Two, Rachel received slightly less days during the school year, but the holidays were split and Rachel was to get 7 weeks in the Summer. (CP.000611). In the letter from Tim's attorney to the court containing this proposed schedule, it was stated that Tim's proposal "reflects the importance that he places

⁵After the GAL testified that the children should be allowed to remain with Rachel when she relocated to Memphis, Tim apparently abandoned his claim for sole custody. Not once in his numerous post-trial briefs and submissions prior to the *Opinion* did Tim argue for sole custody. His post-trial position was that the children should remain in Jackson with Tim as "**primary custodial parent**." (CP.000604. *See also* CP.000609, 610-12, 626).

upon the children having a loving and close relationship with their mother and her family." (CP.000612).

On July 11, 2006, the chancellor issued his *Opinion* and entered a *Final Judgment*. In his *Opinion*, the court stated:

Tim and Rachel's present shared custody arrangement between parents of school aged children will be impractical, if not impossible to maintain, with the parties living in two different states. The consequences of this move will be real. The relationship with one of these two parents will suffer because of the location of the children. For example, if the children move to Memphis, Tennessee, with Rachel, Tim will inevitably be unable to exercise his current visitation. Likewise, if the children remain in Jackson, Mississippi, Rachel will inevitably be unable to exercise her current visitation. ...

Therefore the court finds, **Rachel's move to the state of Tennessee** has made the present joint legal and physical custody arrangement impractical and as such constitutes a material change in circumstances adverse to the children's best interest. (RE.,CP.000557-558).⁶

After summarily concluding that Rachel's **anticipated** move made the joint physical custody arrangement impractical, the court conducted an analysis under *Albright v Albright*, 437 So. 2d 1003 (Miss. 1983), based upon Rachel's **anticipated** move to Memphis and the **anticipated** effect on the children.

Throughout his *Opinion*, the chancellor repeatedly recognized Rachel's dedication to her children and her abilities as a mother. For example, the court stated:

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