IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RACHEL DRISKELL PORTER (SPIVEY)

APPELLANT

VS

NO.2006-CA-015952

TIMOTHY WADE PORTER

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE:

WILLIAM R. WRIGHT,
Wright Law Firm
400 Riverhill Tower
1675 Lakeland Drive
Post Office Box 5003
Jackson, Mississippi 39296
Telephone: 601.366.8090

Facsimile:

601.366.3080

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RACHEL DRISKELL PORTER (SPIVEY)

APPELLANT

VS

CASE NO. 2006-CA-01592

TIMOTHY WADE PORTER

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

(1) The appellant's argument that the chancellor ought to have recused himself from the custody modification proceedings because Tim's wife had practiced before Judge Lutz is without merit. Samantha was not a party but a potential witness whom the chancellor referred to as "a stranger". Under *McFarland v. State*, 707 So. 2d 166, 180 (Miss. 1997) and *Dodson v. Singing River Hospital*, 839 So. 2d 530, 533 (Miss. 2003), the chancellor applied the objective, reasonable-person-

knowing-all-the-circumstances standard. He acted within his discretion and under the presumption of impartiality.

- (2) Mrs. Spivey's premise that being assigned "primary physical custody" granted her a right to relocate with the Porter children is factually flawed under the parties' Agreement and legally repudiated in *McSwain v. McSwain*, 943 So. 2d 1288, 1290 (Miss. 2006) (quoting *Rush v. Rush*, 932 So. 2d 794, 797 (Miss. 2006)). As joint physical and legal custodians under Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-24(5)(c), neither party had a special custodial right, such as a right to relocate with the children. Therefore, the appellant's contention that she was under a burden to prove a right to relocate is without merit. Accordingly, the appellant's argument that Tim should have carried this burden is meritless.
- (3) Rachel's argument that the chancellor applied "the wrong legal standard" for modification of joint custody is not supported by Mississippi law. The trial court properly applied the legal standard from *Elliott v. Elliott*, 877 So. 2d 450, 455 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (holding move by joint custodial parent was material change adversely affecting children as move made joint custody impractical). The *Spain v. Holland*, 483 So. 2d 318, 320 (Miss. 1986) (holding geographic relocation by custodial parent insufficient to prove adverse affect when only non-custodial parent's visitation altered) is not applicable because Tim and Rachel were joint custodians. *Spain* only applies to situations involving a sole custodial parent and a non-custodial parent.
- (4) Rachel's contention that the judge committed manifest error by determining joint custody to be impractical in light of her relocation is not supported by logic or law. The Spiveys were moving roughly two hundred miles away. This would mean that Tim or Rachel would have had to travel 400 miles round trip at least twice a week to see the children. The parties submitted proposals

to maintain joint custody only after the chancellor requested such. Moreover, Rachel's court testimony contradicts her appellate argument. At trial Rachel stated, "I mean, what I'm trying to say is I can't be a full time Mom in Memphis and in Jackson". (T. 296). Other chancellors have found similar distances made joint custody impractical.

- (5) According to Rachel, Judge Lutz committed manifest error by denying Rachel relief from judgment after Dan lost his Wellspring Management position. At the Rule 60(b) hearing, the trier-of-fact found, among other things, that: (1) after conducting an *Albright* analysis, Tim should be the custodial parent; (2) the termination of Dan's job does not change the fact that Tim should remain the custodial parent; (3) Dan and Rachel would move again, if a job opportunity presented itself to Dan; and (4) due to the litigation initiated by Rachel, Tim and Rachel no longer get along well enough to maintain successful joint custody. The judge properly denied Rachel's motion under *Williamson v. Williamson*, No. 2004-CA-02519-COA, 2007 WL 738760 (Miss. Ct. App. June 19, 2007) (affirming lower court denial of Rule 60(b) motion concerning father's relocation) and *Turner v. Turner*, 824 So. 2d 652 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (noting with approval trial court denial of Rule 60(b) motion based upon post-trial fact mother no longer had need to relocate).
- (6) The chancellor did not err by modifying child support. Under MISS. CODE ANN. § 93-5-23, a chancellor may modify support upon a change of custody.
- (7) No Mississippi case or statute supports Rachel's argument that the chancellor was in error when he did not "itemize the recommendations of the guardian ad litem in his *Opinion* and [*] state the reasons in his findings of fact and conclusions of law for not adopting the Guardian's recommendation". (Appellant Brief 49). Where a chancellor is not required to appoint a guardian ad litem by statute, the chancellor has no duty to defer to the guardian's findings. *Passmore v.*

Passmore, 820 So. 2d 747, 751 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing S.N.C. v. J.R.D., Jr., 755 So. 2d 1077 (Miss. 2000)) (finding chancellor not required to detail reasons for rejecting guardian recommendation).

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the chancellor's failure to recuse himself was reversible error.

A few months before the custody modification hearing, Rachel asked Judge Lutz to recuse himself.⁸ Mrs. Spivey urged the court to stretch an unwritten rule, cited in *Robinson v. Irwin*, 546 So. 2d 683, 685 (Miss. 1989), encouraging chancellors "not [to] hear the personal divorce suit of lawyers who routinely practice before their Court" to include the following: Chancellors should also not hear the modification cases of the *spouses* of lawyers who have practiced before them in the past.⁹ (RE. 000418-19).

Specifically, Rachel argued that the chancellor ought to recuse himself from the custody modification proceedings because Tim's wife since November of 2004, Samantha Thomas, had practiced before Judge Lutz.¹⁰

⁸Rachel filed her *Motion for Recusal of the Judges in Chancery Court District 11* on April 13, 2006. (RE. 000367). The appellant filed a *Memorandum Brief in Support of Motion for Recusal* on April 20, 2006. (RE. 000418).

⁹Rachel could not rely on a recusal rule. Instead, she asked to extend the unwritten rule regarding lawyers as parties to include lawyers as witnesses. (RE. 000418-19). Such an extension would suddenly prohibit lawyers from appearing as witnesses. Prohibiting our chancery courts from hearing cases in which lawyers appear as witnesses would be against public policy. A license to practice law does not prohibit a professional from appearing as a witness.

¹⁰The chancery clerk assigned the incarnations of *Porter v. Porter*, from the 1999 filing date to Rachel's 2006 modification petition, to Judge Lutz. The chancellor was familiar with the case and the parties. Neither Tim nor Rachel was a stranger to the judge, unlike Samantha Thomas.

Citing McFarland v. State, 707 So. 2d 166, 180 (Miss. 1997) (affirming Wilkinson County judge's failure to recuse himself during election year from Wilkinson County voter fraud case), the appellant argued that "[a] judge is required to disqualify himself if a reasonable person, knowing all circumstances, would harbor doubts about his impartiality". [RE. 000419]. As the appellant noted in her Memorandum Brief in Support of Motion for Recusal, a judge's decision to recuse is discretionary. When making a recusal decision, a trial judge acts with the presumption of impartiality. See McFarland, 707 So. 2d at 180 ("presumption exists that the judge, sworn to administer impartial justice, is qualified and unbiased").

Judge Lutz, acting within his discretion, denied Rachel's motion. In the *Order Denying Motion for Recusal*, the chancellor applied the *McFarland* reasonable person standard. (RE. 000453-54). The chancellor stated, based upon his docket review, Samantha Thomas had appeared before him on a handful of ex parte matters. (RE. 000453). He did not recall Tim's wife "ever

A presumption exists that the judge, sworn to administer impartial justice, is qualified and unbiased, and where the judge is not disqualified under the constitutional or statutory provisions, the propriety of his or her sitting is a question to be decided by the judge and is subject to review only in case of manifest abuse of discretion.

McFarland, 707 So. 2d at 180 (quotations omitted).

Also, Mrs. Spivey presented her recusal motion seventeen months after Tim married Samantha. After the marriage and before the recusal request, Rachel filed two petitions to modify Tim's custodial periods (RE. 000254, 000296), two agreed orders (RE. 000262, 000295), and a motion to compel (RE. 000275). All matters were assigned to Judge Lutz. Under UNIFORM CHANCERY COURT RULE 1.11, a recusal motion should be "filed with the judge who is the subject of the motion within 30 days following notification to the parties of the name of the judge assigned to the case". Abusing the time limitation has constituted a waiver. *Ryals v. Pigott*, 580 So. 2d 1140, 1175 (Miss. 1991) (holding party failing to reveal recusal reason in timely manner waived right).

¹¹ The next sentence in McFarland reads as follows:

trying a case before [him]". (RE. 000453). The judge concluded, "For all practical purposes, Samantha Thomas, Esq., is a stranger to me". (RE. 000453).

Moreover, the judge clarified Samantha's role in the case. Samantha was not a party but a potential witness. (RE. 000454). Judge Lutz reminded Rachel and Tim that "[t]he only mention of a material witness in the Judicial Code of Ethics is Canon 3(E)(1)(d)(iv), which refers to a judge's family member or relative as a material witness". (RE. 000454). Samantha, a potential witness, was not the chancellor's family member nor his relative. To a reasonable person, it was plain that Canon 3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct did not apply. (RE. 000454).

Out of an abundance of caution and courtesy to the appellant, Judge Lutz reassigned two estate matters on his docket where Samantha served as counsel. (RE. 000454). He took this precaution to ensure Samantha would remain a stranger to him until the custody modification proceedings were resolved. He took this precaution to assure the parties of a continued impartiality.

On appeal, Rachel argues, "By recusing himself in Samantha's other cases, Judge Lutz clearly recognized that his impartiality might be reasonably questioned". (Appellant Brief 26). Further, Rachel contends that the reassignment of two files "magnified the appearance of impropriety". (Appellant Brief 26).

With due respect, the simple reassignment, which Rachel refers to as "procedural gymnastics", was a courtesy Mrs. Spivey now attempts to bend into error. Judge Lutz had no duty to assure Rachel of a continued impartiality. He did Rachel a favor. As Rachel admitted in her

¹²The Judge's comments are in keeping with Samantha Thomas' affidavit attached to the appellee's *Response to Defendant's Motion for Recusal of the Judges in Chancery Court District 11*. (RE. 000410-11). Samantha stated, "Over a six year period, I have only presented ex parte orders to Judge Lutz on seven different occasions". (RE. 000410). In fact, Samantha admits that she is soon to retire. (CP. 000411).

Memorandum Brief in Support of Motion for Recusal, "The decision to recuse or not recuse is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, so long as he applies the correct legal standards". (RE. 000419).

Not surprisingly, Rachel now argues Judge Lutz applied an incorrect standard. The appellant contends the chancellor applied a subjective standard instead of the reasonable person standard cited with approval in *Dodson v. Singing River Hospital*, 839 So. 2d 530, 533 (Miss. 2003) (declaring recusal "required when the evidence produces a reasonable doubt as to the judge's impartiality"). Mrs. Spivey wants the appellate court to believe that Judge Lutz "relied on his personal feelings and experiences regarding Samantha" instead of the circumstances surrounding the case. (Appellant Brief 26).

The record does not support her argument. Judge Lutz stated he had no feelings at all about Samantha Thomas; indeed, she was a practical stranger to him. Moreover, Samantha was not a party to the proceedings. Judge Lutz made a reasonable person determination about recusal, then went to the courteous length of informing the parties of the circumstances. (RE. 000453-54).

The appellant cites *Dodson* to support her argument. In *Dodson*, the Mississippi Supreme Court found recusal proper only after evidence that counsel for the defendant-appellee served as treasurer of the trial judge's election campaign, served as an attorney of record in the estate proceedings of the trial judge's mother, and represented the trial judge in a four-year defective residential construction case without charge. *Dodson*, 839 So. 2d at 534. Moreover, the trial judge had recused himself in a separate case after campaign connections came to light. *Id*.

In *Dodson*, the evidence produced a reasonable doubt about impartiality. By comparison, Judge Lutz's inability to remember a lawyer who had appeared before him on seven ex parte matters and was not a party to the proceeding does not come close to creating doubt about impartiality.

The chancellor acted within his discretion and under the presumption of impartiality. He applied the proper standard of the reasonable person, knowing all the circumstances. The issue has no merit.

II. Whether the chancellor placed a burden of proof on Rachel, the joint custodian assigned "primary physical custody", to show that she had a right to relocate with the Porter children; the chancellor applied the wrong legal standard for modification of joint custody; the chancellor committed manifest error by finding Rachel's relocation made joint custody impractical.

In Section II of her Argument, the appellant apparently combines Issues #2, #3, and #4 from her Statement of the Issues. The incorporation makes it difficult to address each contention.

Next, Mrs. Spivey bases many of her Section II arguments on the factually flawed and legally repudiated premise that being assigned "primary physical custody" granted her a right to relocate with the Porter children.

To effectively address the issues, the appellee will discuss Rachel's reliance on "primary physical custody", then address burden of proof (Appellant Issue #2), the legal standard for modification of joint custody (Apellant Issue #3), and manifest error (Appellant Issue #4).

A. The Appellant improperly relied and continues to rely on the factually flawed and legally repudiated premise that being assigned "primary physical custody" granted her a right to relocate with the children.

Rachel's contention that having "primary physical custody" under the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement granted her a right to relocate with the Porter children is wrong factually and wrong legally.

First, the facts. The allegation that "primary physical custody" granted Rachel a right to relocate within a joint custodial arrangement is not supported by the evidence.

Judge Lutz granted Tim and Rachel an irreconcilable differences divorce, incorporating the parties' Agreement on October 4, 2000. The parties contracted to share joint physical and joint legal custody of the Porter children. (RE. 000019).

The "joint physical custody" definition mimicked MISS. CODE ANN. § 93-5-24(5)(c). Joint physical custody meant "each of the parents shall have significant periods of physical custody and it shall be shared by the parents in such a way as to assure a child frequent and continuing contact with both parents". (RE. 000019).

The proof that Rachel bore no special relocation right is set out in the divorce contract. The Agreement prohibited either party from relocating without legal consequence: Under Section XIX, the parties agreed that "[i]n the event either part[y] moves from the Jackson Metropolitan area, that move shall constitute a material change in circumstances", a provision consistent with a joint custodial arrangement, not a sole custodial arrangement. (RE. 000024).

While Rachel's attorney has, at times, challenged the validity of the parties' pre-July, 2006, joint custody arrangement, Rachel has only consistently argued that she bore a particular right to relocate. In fact, this is why Mrs. Spivey petitioned the chancery court to modify Tim's "periods of physical custody". (RE. 000296). Had Rachel believed she was a sole custodial parent, she would have – improperly – requested a modification of visitation. Moreover, chancellor made a fact-

finding that Tim and Rachel shared joint physical custody.¹³ He further found that the Porter children spent "approximately fifty percent (50%) of the time with each parent". (RE. 000559).

In his *Opinion*, the trial judge addressed the character of the parties's custody agreement.

Judge Lutz wrote,

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